Investigating the resilience of kelp forests to harvest amid a rapidly changing ocean

by Alyssa Allchurch

B.A. (Kinesiology), Western University, 2017

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Resource Management

in the School of Resource and Environmental Management Faculty of Environment

> © Alyssa Allchurch 2023 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Fall 2023

Copyright in this work is held by the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.

Declaration of Committee

Name:	Alyssa Allchurch	
Degree:	Master of Resource Management	
Title:	Investigating the resilience of kelp forests to harvest amid a rapidly changing ocean	
Committee:	Chair:	Scott Harrison Senior Lecturer, Resource and Environmental Management
	Anne K. Salomon Supervisor Professor, Resource and Environmental Management	
	Danielle Denley Committee Member Senior Marine Biologist BC Ministry of Water, Land and Resource Stewardship	
	Maycira Examine Professe Universi	a Costa er or, Geography ity of Victoria

Abstract

While kelp-related activities have become a major component of the global blue economy, the resilience of kelp forests to forest-scale harvest remains understudied. To determine how kelp harvest affects ecological and biophysical characteristics of an entire kelp forest, we conducted a seascape-scale harvest experiment of giant kelp (Macrocystis pyrifera). In collaboration with Indigenous kelp harvesters, knowledge holders, and leaders from the Kwakiutl First Nation, in addition to government and university scientists, we established harvested and unharvested control sections in three large kelp forests which ranged from 6.91 to 25.62 hectares. Harvesters then decided which kelp forest to harvest based on a 20% harvest quota, sea condition, kelp condition, and travel time. While harvesters consistently removed an average of 7100 +/-325 kg of kelp from the top 5.81 +/- 2.17m of the forest canopy per harvest event, overall removing <10% of surface canopy over the season, the occurrence, timing, and magnitude of kelp harvest varied across each experimental site. Post-harvest, we detected a significant reduction in surface frond density at one of the three kelp forests that experienced early season and sequential press harvest effort. Moreover, we detected significant yet variable and ephemeral responses in benthic light intensity, seawater temperature, and flow to sequential harvest at two experimental kelp forests. Counter to our predictions, benthic light intensity within one kelp forest dropped following harvest likely due to the accumulation of kelp detritus. While we did not detect an effect of a single pulse harvest event on benthic light intensity or seawater flow, we did detect a significant cooling in seawater temperature at one of two harvested sections of kelp forest following sequential harvest. Bryozoan coverage was found to be significantly impacted by kelp harvest, however the seasonality and directionality of those impacts varied between kelp forests. Lastly, we did not detect an effect of harvest on individual kelp reproduction or new frond growth. Our results underscore the resilience, yet context-dependence, of kelp forests to harvest. More broadly, the co-design, coproduction, and co-implementation of this experiment, conducted at ecologically and socially relevant scales, models an equitable way to inform a more resilient and just blue economy.

Keywords: kelp harvest; blue economy; *Macrocystis pyrifera*; ecological impacts; social-ecological systems

iii

Acknowledgements

My master's has flown by, and here I stand today, Grateful to so many, with so much to say. Throughout this journey I have experienced so much, Always being guided with such a soft touch.

First to the Kwakiutl, who trusted me with this exploration, I am deeply thankful to everyone in the Nation. Being in your territory made everyday a gift, Every moment spent in community gave my spirit a lift.

Indigenous stewardship of their traditional waters and lands, Is the foundation upon which this research stands. Thank you to the many Elders who shared their knowledge, I learned far more from you then I could any college.

The best days were when I was on the kelp harvester vessel, Watching them easily pull up kelp, while that same bundle I had to wrestle. I am grateful to the harvesters for welcoming us on board, For your patience with us you deserve an award.

To the Kwakiutl coastal guardians thank you for all your help, Especially Judge who spent everyday with us out in the kelp. Thank you to Kevin and Dorothy who guided all this work, The many dinners at the legion together were also a nice perk.

Thank you to Marc and Shaelynne, working with you two was an honour, You both put more heart into your work then any marathoner. Albert, thank you for your kindness and being there for us no matter the weather, Aaron, our favourite boat captain, I'm thankful for our time together. Next is a person I deeply admire, my mentor, teacher, and fearless guide, Anne, having the opportunity to learn from you has given me great pride. You have challenged me when I needed it, and supported me during times of stress, You are a role model, teaching us how to lead with warmth and finesse.

To Danielle for your thoughtful guidance and always lending a helping hand, To Markus for your immense expertise on the water and land. Isabelle for your time underwater and your incredibly helpful directive, Thank you for all your encouragement, time and for expanding my perspective.

Sarah, for long nights and early mornings, thank you for being the best masters buddy, Emily, for the many laughs, beers, adventures, and days getting muddy, The entire CMEC lab for your brainstorming, kindness, and researching with heart, Everyone listed and so many more played a crucial part.

To my REM cohort, what a journey we have had, I will cherish the time we all spent together, see you at grad! Thank you to NSERC, SFU grad studies and Willow Grove for the funds, To the many REM staff and admins, thank you all tons!

Next to my family for encouraging me along this journey out west, To my rock, Rory, for letting me drag you to Vancouver, you're the best! To my friends for always lifting me up and helping me along, I have a wonderful community that everyday teach me how to be strong.

Lastly, to our oceans and kelp forests, you have my heart, While this marks an end to my masters, let the next journey start!

Table of Contents

Declaration of Committee	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	viii
List of Acronyms	X
Glossary	xi
Positionality	xii
Introduction	1
Methods	5
Knowledge Co-Design, Co-Production, and Co-Implementation	5
Study Area and Socio-Cultural Context	6
Kelp Forest Ecology, Biology, and Harvest	6
Kwakiutl Cultural Traditions and Brief History	6
Commercial Kelp Fishery	7
Experiment Design	8
Harvest Assessments	9
Environmental Variables	10
Temperature and Light	10
Water Flow	12
Surface Surveys of Kelp Fronds and Bryozoan Cover	12
SCUBA Surveys of Kelp Frond Growth, Elongation and Reproductive Output	12
Drone Surveys of Kelp Canopy Area	13
Statistical Analyses	13
Temperature and Light	13
Water Flow	16
Surface Surveys of Kelp Fronds and Bryozoan Cover	17
SCUBA Surveys of Kelp Frond Growth, Elongation and Reproductive Output	17
Assumptions and Limitations	17
Results	19
Seasonal Trends in Kelp Forest Temperature and Light	19
Effect of Harvest on Kelp Forest Temperature. Light and Water Flow	21
Single Pulse Harvest	21
Light	21
Temperature –	22
Sequential Press Harvest	26
Light	26
Temperature –	26
Effect of Pulse and Press Harvest Disturbances on Water Flow	30
Effect of Harvest on Surface Frond Densities and Bryozoan Cover	34

Effect of Harvest	on Subsurface Fronds and Reproduction	
Effect of Harvest on Aerial Surface Coverage of Kelp		
Discussion		11
Keln Forest Char	acteristics are Variably Affected by Harvest	
Changes in Bioph	accensics are variably Anecieu by Harvest	orrelated with Keln
Forest Den	sity Changes	
The Future of Kel	p Harvest in Canada	47
Poforoncos		50
References		
Appendix A.	Magnitude of the Harvest	56
Appendix B.	Benthic BACIPS Analysis	57
Benthic Pul	lse BACIPS Analysis	57
Benthic Pre	ess BACIPS Analysis	58
Appendix C.	Subsurface BACIPS Analysis	59
Subsurface	Pulse BACIPS Analysis	
Subsurface	Press BACIPS Analysis	62
Appendix D.	Water Flow	65
Pulse Harv	est Water Flow	65
Press Harv	est Water Flow	65
Appendix E.	Surface Surveys	67
Density of S	Surface Fronds	67
Bryozoan C	Coverage	67
Appendix F.	Scuba Surveys	68
All Fronds f	from Tagged Kelps	68
Alive Frond	ls from Tagged Kelps	68
New Frond	s from Tagged Kelps	69
Dead Frond	ds from Tagged Kelps	69
Appendix G.	Reproductive Assessments	70
Sori from T	agged Kelps	70
Sporophylls	s from Tagged Kelps	70

List of Figures

Figure 1:	Three experimental kelp forests were established in Kwakiutl territory, nearby Tsaxis (Fort Rupert), on the north coast of Vancouver Island, Canada; Deer Island (Wazulis), Falsehead, and Singletree. Harvesters cut surface fronds of <i>Macrocystis pyrifera</i> in delineated harvest sections of the forest (pink polygon), leaving control sections (blue polygon) unharvested.
Figure 2:	Drone imagery of A) Singletree, B) Falsehead, and C) Deer Island experimental kelp forests. At each experimental kelp forest light, temperature and flow loggers were attached to two moorings (blue and pink polygons) in both the harvest and control (unharvested) section of the forest. The black line breaks the kelp forest into the harvest section, pink polygons, and unharvested control section, blue polygons. The control section of Deer Island was unable to be photographed due to proximity to the Port Hardy airport
Figure 3:	Methodology of the progressive change BACIPS, adapted from Thiault et al., 2017 (Figure 1) using hypothetical data. Step 1: A response variable is measured at harvested (pink) and control (blue) sites several times before (grey background) and after (white background) an experimental harvest (AKA: treatment) is imposed (red line). Step 2: Differences (Δ) between the harvested and control sections are calculated for each time step (white triangles). Step 3: Four candidate models (Step change (blue), linear (green), asymptotic (yellow) and sigmoidal (purple)) are fitted to the differences and compared using model selection criteria. Step 4: The best fitting model is used as the explanatory model to draw inferences about the effect of the impact, in this case, of kelp harvest15
Figure 4:	Daily temperatures (°C) recorded by top and bottom loggers at 3 experimental kelp forests; A) Falsehead B) Singletree and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg)
Figure 5:	Daily light (Lumen/m ²) recorded by top and bottom loggers at 3 experimental kelp forests; A) Falsehead B) Singletree and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg)
Figure 6:	Effects of a single pulse harvest event on benthic kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m ²) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest
Figure 7:	Effects of a single pulse harvest event on benthic kelp forest sea water temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest. 25
Figure 8:	Effects of sequential press harvest on benthic kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m ²) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest28
Figure 9:	Effects of sequential press harvest on benthic kelp forest seawater temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control

	(blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest
Figure 10:	Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of the experimental kelp forest at A) Falsehead and B) Singletree after a single pulse harvest event in June
Figure 11:	Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of the experimental kelp forests after 6 to 8 days of repeated press harvest at A) Deer Island early in the growing season and B) Falsehead later in the growing season. * indicates significant differences
Figure 12:	Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of Deer Island throughout the entire harvest season. * indicates significant differences
Figure 13:	Surface frond density (#/m ²) at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg). * indicates significant differences
Figure 14:	Bryozoan coverage (%/m ²) at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg). * indicates significant differences
Figure 15:	Number of new fronds, alive fronds and dead fronds at Deer Island, Falshead, and Singletree in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. * indicates significant differences
Figure 16:	Number of sori patches at A) Deer Island, B) Falsehead, C) Singletree and number of sporophylls at D) Deer Island, E) Falsehead, F) Singletree from tagged kelps in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest
Figure 17:	Total Macrocystis area at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests40

List of Acronyms

MaPP	Marine Plan Partnership
SFU	Simon Fraser University
UAV	Unmanned Aerial Vehicle

Glossary

Kwak'wala	English (<i>Latin</i>)
Kaladi	Giant kelp patch
Ka <u>x</u> ḱalis	Giant kelp (Macrocystis pyrifera)
Tsa <u>x</u> is	Fort Rupert
Wádelkola	Bull kelp patch
Wawadi	Bull kelp (Nereocystis luetkeana)
Wazulis	Deer Island

Positionality

I am of European ancestry, specifically English and Ukrainian. My family settled on Turtle Island in the early 20th century. I grew up in Treaty 7 territory, which includes the traditional territory of the Blackfoot Confederacy, the Tsuut'ina Nation, and the Stoney Nakoda. It was in the surrounding mountains and rivers of my childhood that I first spent time building relationships to the land and water. I now live on the territories of the Ləkwəŋən and WSÁNEĆ peoples. As a non-Indigenous researcher, I have been guided by so many different people who all have generously gifted me with their time and expertise. I am immensely grateful to the Kwakiutl knowledge keepers who have taught me and for the lessons I've learned from the sea and her many inhabitants. When I use 'we' throughout this thesis I hope to illustrate that this work was shaped and guided by a collective that is much greater than myself. Gilakas'la (Thank you).

Introduction

The creation and scaling of ecologically resilient, socially just, and economically viable ocean-based industries has been proposed as a critical means by which global economies can transition towards sustainability. A major component of these 'blue economy' strategies includes the harvest and cultivation of seaweeds, in particular kelps (Choudhary et al., 2021). Kelps are marine primary producers that are fast growing, habitat forming, fix atmospheric carbon, and serve as a source of food, fuel, fertilizer, and pharmaceuticals (Buschmann et al., 2017). Moreover, they do so without the use of energetically costly fertilizers or freshwater, making their production relatively sustainable (Tiwari & Troy, 2015). The resilience of kelps to harvest however, remains less well known, particularly at large spatial scales and amid a swiftly warming ocean. Here, we conducted a seascape-level experiment to test the extent to which harvest may alter the ecological and biophysical characteristics of a kelp forest.

Kelps have been harvested for food, medicine, and materials by people along the world's temperate coastlines for millennia (Kuhnlein & Turner, 1991; Dillehay et al., 2008). Today, kelps continue to be harvested at a diversity of scales for a diversity of objectives, from locally based food, social, and ceremonial use (Kobluk et al., 2021), to small-scale artisanal commercial fisheries (Thompson et al., 2010) and larger-scale industrial commercial operations (Buschmann et al., 2014; Steen et al., 2016). For many coastal communities, the rising demand for seaweed presents an economic opportunity to scale-up or commercialize what were previously subsistence-based kelp fisheries (Krumhansl et al., 2017). However, structural marginalization, economic barriers, and social-ecological trade-offs (Gutzmann, 2023) must be addressed to ensure that resource-dependent coastal communities are not negatively impacted by the scaling-up of kelp harvest activities (Bennett et al., 2021).

Specific kelp species such as giant kelp (*Macrocystis pyrifera*) have become the focus of harvest due to their rapid recovery rates and consistent long-term yields (Vasquez, 1995). In Chile for example, large-scale giant kelp fisheries have had little detectable effect on plant morphology, reproduction, or associated kelp forest biodiversity (Vasquez et al., 2012). Similarly, further north in Baja California, the large-scale harvest of giant kelp was found to have minimal impacts on kelp recruitment,

survivorship, and community interactions (Barilotti & Zertuche-Gonzalez, 1990). However, increasing kelp harvest rates amid a rapidly warming ocean have triggered concerns regarding the long-term viability and resilience of giant kelp to harvest. Global kelp forest responses to climate impacts are highly variable across and within regions, with anthropogenic threats, including warming sea surface temperatures, driving sitespecific trends in kelp densities (Krumhansl et al., 2016). Additionally, warming seawater temperatures resulting from human-induced climate change are likely to increase the sensitivity of kelp forests to cumulative impacts of disturbances caused through chronic and acute harvests (Krumhansl et al., 2017). Research assessing the effects of harvest on kelp forest ecosystems, therefore, needs to account for the duration and magnitude of kelp harvest while assessing the context-dependent responses of kelp forests at seascape-level scales.

Multiple factors are known to mediate the effects of harvest on kelp recovery rates. For example, while giant kelp can recover from one-off harvest levels of 30 – 70%, its resilience to harvest in temperate waters averaging 8-16°C has been shown to be highly temperature sensitive, with recovery rates slowing by 40% with less than a 1°C increase in sea water temperatures (Krumhansl et al., 2017). Similarly, results from a small-scale one-time experimental harvest of the intertidal feather boa kelp (*Egregia menziesii*) suggests that larger individual plant size, lower temperatures, and higher wave exposure facilitate faster kelp recovery rates post harvest (Kobluk et al., 2021). During a harvest season, kelp forests can experience impacts from both pulse harvest events, where harvesters harvest a kelp forest once then leave it to recover for a period of time, and repeated press harvest pressure, where forests are harvested multiple days in a row (Bender et al., 1984). While previous research has focused on impacts of one-time pulse harvests, the ecological impacts of repeat, press harvests at the kelp forest-scale remain understudied, as have these harvest effects on the ecological characteristics of the forests themselves.

Kelp harvest can affect biotic and abiotic processes that structure kelp forest habitat and ecosystem dynamics. For example, the reduction of surface kelp frond density via harvest could increase water flow, thereby reducing sea water temperature, increasing light, and thus altering the growing conditions for kelp and other components of kelp forests (Wood et al., 2017). Kelp harvest may also impose trade-offs between somatic growth and potential reproductive output, impacting the long-term population

characteristics of kelp forests and the viability of future harvest. Previous studies have demonstrated that following harvest, kelps downregulate reproduction, possibly in favour of using that energy to replenish somatic tissue lost to harvest (Geange et al., 2014). Reduced reproduction, if caused in a small number of plants, may not however influence kelp forest characteristics given giant kelp sporophytes display strong negative density dependence (Reed et al., 1991). In fact, high growth rates of giant kelp, with possible upregulation of this growth post harvest, may cause canopy sections to be quickly replaced, leading to initial harvest impacts that swiftly decrease following initial harvest.

Kelp density and the magnitude, occurrence and timing of harvest may also influence the prevalence of fouling organisms, such as epiphytic bryozoans. Density of giant kelp forests have been found to influence settlement and growth of bryozoan, with denser forests having higher bryozoan coverage (Denley et al., 2022). Reciprocally however, kelp encrusting bryozoans can negatively impact kelp by increasing susceptibility to erosion and breakage, reducing nutrient absorption, photosynthesis, and reproduction (Krumhansl et al., 2011; Hepburn et al., 2012). Highly colonized kelp fronds are avoided by kelp harvesters due to the inability of these fronds to be ground up and sold as fertilizer. These diverse and reciprocal interactions among kelp density, water flow, fouling organisms, temperature, light, kelp reproduction, and growth all influence long term kelp population dynamics.

The persistence of harvested kelp forests is not only influenced by environmental conditions but is also a function of the values and decisions of kelp harvesters. While environmental conditions impact growth and recovery of kelp forests through time, kelp harvest mediates these ecological relationships, which in turn affect harvest practices. For example, within kelp forests, kelp reproduction and growth are driven by interacting biotic and abiotic conditions, such as kelp density, light, and temperature. Surface harvest of the kelp canopy may reduce the density of canopy fronds, opening gaps in the canopy and increasing benthic light levels, thereby stimulating new frond production. Increases in new frond growth may increase subsequent harvest effort. However, abundance may not be the only metric used to determine when and where to harvest. Harvest effort and location may also be influenced by a harvesters' knowledge and values. Harvesters who strive to limit negative consequences on kelp forest persistence will make different decisions on when, where, and how much to harvest compared to purely profit driven harvesters. Selective harvest of kelp fronds and blades based on the

preferred characteristics of their use, local knowledge on kelp forest health, seasonal condition and recovery rates all influence the response and subsequent re-growth of kelp forests following harvest. Kelp harvest experiments at the forest-scale that wish to mimic real-world harvest conditions must acknowledge the value systems of harvesters, and the impact they will have on the outcomes of harvest. These social-ecological relationships between kelp harvesters and kelp forests have existed for millennia in the Pacific Northwest and shape the current coastal seascape of British Columbia. Commercial kelp harvest has the potential to maintain sustainable yields due to these longstanding social-ecological interactions, however overharvesting and warming ocean temperatures can quickly erode these relationships.

Here, in collaboration with the Kwakiutl First Nation of the northeastern Pacific coast, including Indigenous and non-Indigenous kelp harvesters, knowledge holders, and Leaders we asked: (1) how does kelp forest subsurface light intensity, sea water temperature, and water flow respond to both pulse and press seascape-scale kelp harvest, and (2) to what extent does kelp harvest drive changes in kelp forest frond density, frond growth, and bryozoan cover? To address these questions, we co-designed and co-implemented a collaborative kelp harvest experiment in which we established harvested and unharvested control sections at three large (0.05-0.26 km²) and dense (8.64 +/- 1.2 fronds/m²- 20.1 +/- 1.8 fronds/m²) kelp forests. We predicted that a reduction in kelp frond density within the harvested sections of the kelp forests would increase light levels, decrease seawater temperatures, increase water flow, and reduce kelp epiphytes at the scale of a kelp forest. Moreover, we hypothesized that at the individual kelp plant scale, reduced kelp frond density would lead to a decrease in potential reproductive output, and an increase in new frond growth.

Methods

Knowledge Co-Design, Co-Production, and Co-Implementation

This research was designed and conducted in partnership with the Kwakiutl Nation, one of several Kwakwaka'wakw tribes of the Northeastern Pacific Coast. Based on previously established relationships, we held three initial meetings to discuss research priorities and information needs of the Kwakiutl Nation in the fall of 2021. These included initial informal conversations with the Kwakiutl Nation Fisheries department and Kwakiutl kelp harvesters. Initial discussions were then followed by a more formal meeting seeking research consent and guidance from the Kwakiutl Head Hereditary Chief, walas 'Namugwis David Mungo Knox, the contemporary rights holder and descendant of the original, deep time leaders responsible for managing the relationships between people, lands, and waters prior to the incursion of settler-colonial laws. During these meetings, we honed research questions guided by both Indigenous and western knowledge of the local ecology, with the goal of informing future kelp management in Kwakiutl territory. In the spring of 2022, we sought consent for our collaborative research proposal by the elected Kwakiutl band council. Field work began only once approval and consent were given.

Results were shared back to the Kwakiutl Nation Fisheries department after each stage of the work and reviewed following Kwakiutl protocol. Additionally, we followed ethics and data protocols laid out by the First Nations Information Governance Centre's (2023) principles of data sovereignty Ownership, Control, Access, and Possession; OCAP®. By upholding ancestral Indigenous governance principles, protocols, and authority, this approach modeled a more equitable way to co-produce policy-relevant science. It also supports Nation-to-Nation environmental governance and equitable research and knowledge transfer processes that align with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (UNDRIP) and the British Columbia Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act (DRIPA).

Study Area and Socio-Cultural Context

Kelp Forest Ecology, Biology, and Harvest

We established 3 kelp forest sites off the east coast of the northern tip of Vancouver Island, British Columbia, Canada. Here, kelp forest canopies are primarily comprised of kaxkalis giant kelp, *Macrocystis pyrifera*, along with fringing wawadi bull kelp, *Nereocystis luetkeana*, and a diversity of understory laminarian species. The kelp forests themselves are relatively large for British Columbia, extending upwards of 25.62 hectares or 0.26 square kilometers, owing in large part to substantial, shallow (average 5 m, max 10 m below chart datum) subtidal benches composed of boulders interspersed with sediment. The largest giant kelp forests in the province of British Columbia range from 0.13 to 32.70 hectares, with average frond densities of 4.45 fronds/m² (Sutherland, 2008).

Giant kelp has one of the fastest growth rates of any organism on earth (Mann, 1973). Each giant kelp is made up of multiple fronds, which originate from a basal meristem. Fronds elongate from an apical meristem, also called a scimitar. The placement of these meristems means that when a frond is harvested from the surface of the water, the growing end (i.e. the scimitar) is removed. That frond will no longer grow, sinking to the bottom and decaying over time. However, the kelp plant may still produce new fronds, growing up from the basal meristem. Specialized blades at the base of the kelp called sporophylls produce spore packed patches called sori which tear away from the blade, dispersing spores in the process.

Kwakiutl Cultural Traditions and Brief History

Stretching from the northern tip of Vancouver Island, up into Knight Inlet and down the Johnston Strait lies the sacred geography of the Kwakiutl people. This land has been occupied, stewarded, and cared for by Kwakiutl people for millennia. Prior to European contact, the land sustained complex traditional economies, including subsistence, trade, ceremonial, and spiritual use of marine and terrestrial resources, such as kelps (Turner & Bell, 1973; Pasco & Compton, 1998; Kwakiutl First Nation, 2018; Kwaxsistalla Wathl'thla et al., 2022). Colonial dispossession of the land and sea deeply impacted the ability of Kwakiutl people to access marine resources, and systemic barriers continue to create challenges for Kwakiutl people today, including the harvest and use of seaweeds (Mustonen et al., 2021; Hunt, 2023). Nonetheless, the Kwakiutl people remain deeply connected to their lands and waters and continue to assert their rights and responsibilities by revitalizing stewardship practices of harvesting, gathering, tending, and managing resources in their territory (Everson, 2021). The variety of ecological and cultural stewardship practices enacted by Kwakiutl people are not only maintaining but restoring the productivity of local terrestrial and marine ecosystems (Everson, 2021).

Commercial Kelp Fishery

A Kwakiutl-led commercial kelp harvest operation, called Confidence Fishing Company, started in Kwakiutl territory 25 years ago. Today it is the largest commercial kelp harvest in the province of British Columbia. This operation hand harvests giant kelp 5 days a week from May till October using two small boats (max length 9m) filled with sixteen $3.5 \times 4 \times 3m$ totes that carry kelp to be processed. During harvest, the boats drift into the forests, relying on the wind or small motorized adjustments to push themselves through the kelp forests. The harvesters on board use gaff hooks to pull bundles of kelp fronds taut to the kelp forest benthos, then cut the top 5.81 m (+/- 2.17m) (Appendix A) of fronds on average and pull them abord and into the totes. The harvesters continue to pull and cut until all their totes onboard are full, averaging 3550 kg of kelp per skiff per day (total 7100 kg of kelp removed per day +/- 325) (Appendix A). The harvesters alternate which forests they harvest from, depending on sea condition, kelp condition, travel time, and quotas set by the provincial government.

Decisions by kelp harvesters on when and where to harvest are based on local ecological knowledge and influenced by fuel costs and weather conditions. At the beginning of the season kelp harvesters in British Columbia apply for permits granted by the provincial government which dictate a harvest quota based on an estimate of kelp biomass per kelp forest. This estimate is based on the area and depth of a kelp forest. A maximum of 20% of a kelp forest is allowed to be harvested over the course of the season, with harvesters typically applying to harvest multiple kelp forests. Beyond this quota harvesters define when and where they harvest, with harvesters using local knowledge and observation of kelp forest health and harvestability across the harvest season to decide where to harvest. Environmental assessments of previous and current

annual temperature trends also inform decisions on when to harvest and when to leave forests to recover. External factors such as market forces, supply chains, weather, culture, governance, and management also play a role in these harvest decisions. This study maintained the autonomy of harvesters to rely on this social ecological decision space to determine when and where to harvest, allowing for harvest results to assess recovery rates and harvest impacts of current harvest regimes.

Experiment Design

To assess how kelp harvest affects the physical and biological characteristics of kelp forests, we conducted a large-scale, seascape-level kelp harvest experiment from May 23 to August 1, 2022. Three kelp forests in Kwakiutl territory were chosen based on their contemporary harvest history, ease of access, and the knowledge and experience of Kwakiutl kelp harvesters (Figure 1). At each kelp forest, we designated an active harvest section, where kelp harvesters would harvest kelp using their established methodologies, and a control section where no kelp would be harvested. Constrained only by a 20% harvest quota, harvesters had autonomy over decisions on when, where, and how much to harvest within each harvest section, creating variability in the magnitude and frequency of harvest at each of the three experimental kelp forests through time.



Figure 1: Three experimental kelp forests were established in Kwakiutl territory, nearby Tsaxis (Fort Rupert), on the north coast of Vancouver Island, Canada; Deer Island (Wazulis), Falsehead, and Singletree. Harvesters cut surface fronds of *Macrocystis pyrifera* in delineated harvest sections of the forest (pink polygon), leaving control sections (blue polygon) unharvested.

Harvest Assessments

Daily records of kelp biomass (wet weight) and harvest location were recorded and shared by harvesters. Quantity of kelp fronds harvested per tote was assessed through two repeat harvests at Falsehead performed by the kelp research team where number and length of fronds needed to fill the totes were recorded and averaged (n=2 totes). Frond length and weight harvested was assessed during a subset of repeat harvests at each kelp forest, measurements were taken for all harvested fronds every 3 weeks from May to August and averaged for each forest (Appendix A).

Environmental Variables

To create the space for multiple ways of knowing to inform our research, our hypotheses were based on lived experience on the water, Indigenous knowledge, and western science. We monitored environmental response variables hypothesized to be impacted by kelp harvest based on peer reviewed literature and conversations with collaborators.

Temperature and Light

To test for an effect of harvest on temperature and light levels within each experimental kelp forest (n=3), we deployed temperature and light sensors on four mooring lines, two in the harvest section and two in the control section (Figure 2). Mooring lines in the harvest section of the kelp forest were placed in areas frequently targeted by the harvesters, as determined through observation and conversation with the harvesters. All mooring lines were placed a minimum of 10 meters into the kelp forest, as evaluated during a tidal height of less than 2 meters chart datum, to prevent edge effects.

Affixed to each mooring line were two HOBO pendant temperature and light loggers. The top logger was placed ~1m below the ocean surface and the bottom logger was placed ~1 meter above the benthos. Quantity of light and seawater temperature measurements were taken every two minutes for the duration of May 24 until July 31. For both the top and bottom light loggers, light intensity (lumen/m²) measured during daylight hours was averaged daily during tidal heights over 2 meters chart datum. Similarly, for both the top and bottom temperature loggers, daily average temperature (°C) was calculated during tidal heights over 2 meters chart datum. Tidal height minimums for measurements were established to minimize erroneous spikes correlated with kelp and mooring entanglement during low tides.



Figure 2: Drone imagery of A) Singletree, B) Falsehead, and C) Deer Island experimental kelp forests. At each experimental kelp forest light, temperature and flow loggers were attached to two moorings (blue and pink polygons) in both the harvest and control (unharvested) section of the forest. The black line breaks the kelp forest into the harvest section, pink polygons, and unharvested control section, blue polygons. The control section of Deer Island was unable to be photographed due to proximity to the Port Hardy airport.

Water Flow

We estimated the effect of harvest on surface water flow using gypsum cement 'clods' (McClanahan et al., 2011; Hart et al., 2002). The dissolution rate of each clod was used to approximate water motion within each section of the kelp forest. Clods were created by pouring gypsum cement into ice cube trays, attaching an eye bolt within each clod, followed by drying and weighing (g) before deployment. In the field, two clods were attached to each mooring line, both ~1 meter below the surface. Clods were retrieved within 24 hours with the retrieval time noted and factored into each loss rate calculation. Each clod was dried in an oven for 24 hours then re-weighed. To determine dissolution rate (g/hr), weight post deployment was subtracted from weight pre deployment divided by time elapsed during deployment.

Surface Surveys of Kelp Fronds and Bryozoan Cover

To assess the effect of harvest on kelp surface density and kelp epiphyte presence across sites and season, we conducted repeat surface surveys following methods implemented by the Marine Planned Partnership (MaPP), with minor modifications (Thompson, 2021). Modifications included increasing tidal windows for surveys from below 1.5 m chart datum to 2m to allow for additional time to assess all three kelp forests and randomly stratified surveys replacing transects. Specifically, we counted the number of fronds in 60 1 x 1m quadrats randomly stratified across the harvest and control section of each experimental kelp forest. Surveys were conducted at each experimental kelp forest during tide windows below 2 meters chart datum every 3 weeks from May 24 until July 31. The total number and percent cover of kelp fronds within each quadrate was recorded, as was the percent of the kelp canopy present in each quadrate that was covered by bryozoan.

SCUBA Surveys of Kelp Frond Growth, Elongation and Reproductive Output

To measure the effect of harvest on the production and elongation of new fronds, we tagged and measured (n=8) individual kelp plants in the harvest and control sections of each experimental kelp forest using SCUBA (n=48 kelp plants total). All tagged kelps were within 10 meters of the mooring buoys. The number and length of all kelp fronds for each kelp were counted and recorded in June and July. We did not tag individual fronds, instead we assessed the number and size of fronds per kelp, which was assessed through repeat measurements twice during the harvest season. In the harvest section of each experimental kelp forest, all fronds over 3m of the tagged kelps were cut by divers beginning on June 15 following counts, guaranteeing harvest on the individual kelp level on June 15 and July 9/10. To test the effect of harvest on the potential reproductive output of kelp, we counted the number of sporophylls and sori patches on each tagged kelp plant.

Drone Surveys of Kelp Canopy Area

To quantify the effect of harvest on total surface kelp canopy area through time we took drone images of the experimental kelp forests at three time points across the harvest season, and once a year later. UAV images of each forest's control and harvest sections were collected during tides of less than 2 meters chart datum from a height of 60-120m. Orthomosaics were processed through Kelp-O-Matic (v0.6.1) (Denouden & Reshitnyk, 2023) to detect surface kelp present in the drone imagery. We quantified total kelp canopy area (m²) for each forest and each section through time using methodologies recommended for Kelp-O-Matic outputs in ArcGIS. Images of the control section of Deer were unobtainable due to the proximity to the Port Hardy airport.

Statistical Analyses

Temperature and Light

To analyze the effect of harvest on temperature and light, we used a progressive change before-after control-impact paired series (progressive change BACIPS: Thiault et al., 2017) analysis. Traditional BACIPS analyses distinguish between natural spatial and temporal variability from variability caused by an intervention using paired sampling at control and impacted sites. Traditional BACIPS analyses assume perturbations impact response variables immediately and that changes to the system are consistent after an impact. However complex ecological interactions impacting temperature and light levels following kelp harvest are likely not constant nor linear. In fact, *Macrocystis pyrifera* can grow in favourable conditions up to 35cm per day (O'Clair & Lindstrom, 2021) potentially,

quickly obscuring the effects of a surface harvest. Any quantifiable impacts hypothesized to not be constant through time, violate the assumptions of traditional stepchange BACIPS analysis.

The Progressive-Change BACIPS we deployed can discern impacts, and the timescales over which they operate, by fitting alternative recovery models, allowing data to dictate the response model form instead of the inverse. Understanding and quantifying the shape of the response following harvest is as important to understand as detecting the presence of a response, rendering the progressive change BACIPS a more accurate method of interpreting the complex ecological impacts triggered by kelp harvest.



Figure 3: Methodology of the progressive change BACIPS, adapted from Thiault et al., 2017 (Figure 1) using hypothetical data. Step 1: A response variable is measured at harvested (pink) and control (blue) sites several times before (grey background) and after (white background) an experimental harvest (AKA: treatment) is imposed (red line). Step 2: Differences (Δ) between the harvested and control sections are calculated for each time step (white triangles). Step 3: Four candidate models (Step change (blue), linear (green), asymptotic (yellow) and sigmoidal (purple)) are fitted to the differences and compared using model selection criteria. Step 4: The best fitting model is used as the explanatory model to draw inferences about the effect of the impact, in this case, of kelp harvest.

To assess the impact of a single kelp harvest event on temperature and light at the beginning of the growing season (June), we assessed changes in these response variables over a 13–14-day period pre and post harvest at two kelp forests; Falsehead and Singletree (see Figure 4). To assess the impact of a 10–12-day sequential harvest of kelp on temperature and light, we assessed changes in these response variables, pre and post harvest, at the Deer Island and Falsehead kelp forests (see Figure 5).

We calculated daily differences in temperature and light (Δ) by subtracting control from harvest section values. Using before/during harvest and after harvest daily differences, four candidate models were fit to the data post harvest. Step change models fit an immediate and constant change in the difference between sections following harvest. Linear models describe a continuous change in the magnitude of difference between harvest and control sections that accrues at a constant rate. Asymptotic models describe a continuous change in the magnitude of difference between harvest and control sections where the difference changes at a declining rate and approaches an asymptote. Lastly, sigmoidal models describe a continuous change in the magnitude of difference between the sections where the difference changes from initially accelerating to decelerating, leading to an asymptote.

All analyses were implemented using the R statistical software version 3.0.1 (R Core Team 2022). 'MINPACK.LM' (Elzhov et al., 2013) and 'NSL2' (Grothendieck, 2013) packages were used to perform nonlinear regressions and the 'AICCMODAVG' package (Mazerolle, 2016) was used to evaluate second order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc). We used the AICc of each model as a measure of their relative likelihood and number of parameters to discern the most parsimonious and best fit model. Adjusted R² was reported to assess the fit of linear, sigmoidal and asymptotic models whereas partial ETA² was reported to assess the fit of step-change models. To assess the magnitude of harvest effect for nonlinear models (step-change, asymptotic and sigmoid) we used the difference between the difference before the intervention and the eventual asymptote after the intervention, hence effect = M. For linear models, the magnitude of the harvest effect was measured as the slope of the differences after the intervention. The parameter estimates of the best fit model were used to estimate the probability of an effect of harvest, given the difference between harvest and control values and the time since harvest, and reported as p-values.

Water Flow

To test for an effect of harvest on water flow during time periods specified in the BACIPS analysis, we ran T-tests on those specific sites and periods. Where the t-tests returned a significant p value, we ran a repeat measures analysis of variance to determine seasonality of differences and post-hoc pairwise comparisons. We used the R packages 'Ime4' (Bates et al., 2015), 'Imertest' (Kuznetsova et al., 2017), and 'multcomp' (Hothorn et al., 2023) for ANOVAs and Tukeys HSD tests.

Surface Surveys of Kelp Fronds and Bryozoan Cover

To test for an effect of harvest on the number of surface fronds and percent cover of bryozoan post harvest, we ran a repeated measures ANOVA. To assess bryozoan coverage, we removed any quadrats which did not contain kelp due to bryozoan coverage being a function of kelp coverage. For both bryozoan and kelp frond analysis we removed any surveys where harvest had not occurred yet. Where tests returned a significant p value, we used a Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) post-hoc test. We used the R packages 'Ime4' (Bates et al., 2015), 'Imertest' (Kuznetsova et al., 2017), and 'multcomp' (Hothorn et al., 2023) for ANOVAs and Tukeys HSD tests.

SCUBA Surveys of Kelp Frond Growth, Elongation and Reproductive Output

To test for an effect of harvest and kelp forest site on the production of new fronds, total alive fronds, dead fronds, and number of sori patches observed on sporophylls, we ran a repeated measures ANOVA on each response variable. Where tests returned a significant p value, we used a Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) post-hoc test. We used the R packages 'Ime4' (Bates et al., 2015), 'Imertest' (Kuznetsova et al., 2017), and 'multcomp' (Hothorn et al., 2023) for ANOVAs and Tukeys HSD tests.

Assumptions and Limitations

Our experimental kelp forests, including harvest and control sections, differed in characteristics other than the presence or absence of harvest. Although we aimed to minimize differences in environmental factors among kelp forests such as wave exposure, water flow, substratum, species assemblages, turbidity, sedimentation, and proximity to each forest, no two kelp forests ever experience the same abiotic and biotic conditions, and no kelp forest is ubiquitous throughout. It was important to us to select kelp harvest experiment sites that would be most useful for our research partners, which lead to large distances (13km) between sites with somewhat different oceanographic influences. Those factors may have influenced the kelp forests and individual kelp plants

responses to harvest. Moreover, the magnitude, occurrence, and timing of harvest itself also varied among our experimental kelp forests.

While our study gained relevance and legitimacy by working directly with kelp harvesters to impose the experimental harvest itself, our experimental design became unbalanced in its replication because we did not direct when or where the harvest happened. Our initial experimental design was based on 3 replicate kelp forests with control and harvest treatments. However, variability in the occurrence, harvest effort (i.e., number of boats), and timing of harvest across each kelp forest resulted in variability in the magnitude and duration of the harvest treatment effect. While we used this unexpected spatial and temporal distribution of harvest effort to our advantage by exploring the effects of both pulse and press harvest disturbances, experienced in most fisheries, we lost the power of a balanced and replicated Before, After, Control and Impact (BACI) design. Therefore, we analyzed the effects of kelp harvest on our BACIPS time-series responses (i.e., benthic light intensity and sea water temperature) as a separate, un-replicated time series. In contrast, harvest effects on post harvest, one time-step, harvested and control response variables (i.e., water flow, frond density, bryozoan cover, new frond growth, and potential reproductive output) were analysed with kelp forest and sample unit (i.e., quadrat or individual plant) as replicates, despite variability in harvest effort among kelp forests.

Results

Seasonal Trends in Kelp Forest Temperature and Light

Throughout the growing season from the end of May to the end of July, all three kelp forests experienced remarkable similarity in their overall trend and variability in sea water temperature. Sea water temperatures were at their lowest at the beginning of our time series, at the end of May, ranging from 9-11°C, and peaked near the end of July, with temperatures ranging from 14.5-15.5°C. While temperatures tended to be consistent between control and harvested sections of the kelp forests at Falsehead and Deer Island, the harvested section of the kelp forest at Singletree consistently experienced cooler sea water temperatures than the control site, especially when temperatures were relatively high during the end of June and July.

Across all three kelp forests, subsurface light intensity was highly variable both daily and throughout the growing season, ranging on average between 1 and 2166 lumens/m² with extreme values ranging as high as 187,379 lumens/m² (Figure 5). Light intensity was most variable at the Deer Island kelp forest, which also experienced the greatest magnitude and frequency of harvest early in the growing season (Figure 5).



Figure 4: Daily temperatures (°C) recorded by top and bottom loggers at 3 experimental kelp forests; A) Falsehead B) Singletree and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg).



Figure 5: Daily light (Lumen/m²) recorded by top and bottom loggers at 3 experimental kelp forests; A) Falsehead B) Singletree and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg).

Effect of Harvest on Kelp Forest Temperature, Light and Water Flow

Single Pulse Harvest

Light

We found no evidence for an effect of a one-day harvest event on benthic light intensity within two experimental kelp forests (Figure 6). Specifically, benthic light levels in the kelp forest at Singletree were variable both pre and post harvest, in control and harvested sections of the forest (Figure 6 A). Consequently, no significant difference in light between control and harvested sections of the forest post harvest were detected by our linear model (p-value = 0.2). While a linear response in the difference in light between harvested and control sections of the kelp forest post harvest was best supported by the data relative to other models (Figure 6 C, Appendix B.1), only 2.6% of the variation in these differences was attributable to a linear response to harvest (Adj R^2 =0.0263). Standard deviations between the pre-harvest and post harvest light quantities in the harvest and control sections were similar. (SD pre-harvest control section=59.2, SD pre-harvest harvest section=23.83, SD post-harvest control section=36.41, SD post-harvest harvest section=23.94).

Similarly, our winning model found no evidence for an effect of harvest on benthic light levels in the kelp forest at Falsehead (p-value = 0.25, Figure 6 E, Appendix B.1). Again here, a linear response to harvest was best supported by the data, but only 1.5% of the variation in the difference in light between control and harvested sections of the kelp forest post harvest was attributable to harvest (Adj R²=0.0151). Over the time series, benthic light levels tended to be more variable in the control section of the forest pre harvest and became less variable in both sections after harvest, except for a one-time spike in light in the control section post harvest experienced large spikes in average daily light quantities, with a larger standard deviation in the post harvest period than for the pre-harvest period (SD pre-harvest control section=56.16, SD post-harvest control section=137.08).

Temperature –

We found strong evidence for an effect of a single, pulse harvest event on benthic seawater temperatures at one experimental kelp forest but not the other (Figure 7). Following the harvest at the Singletree kelp forest, temperatures diverged significantly between control and harvested sections (p-value = 2.76e-11). While benthic seawater rose in temperature in both sections, temperatures remained on average 1.41°C (+/- 0.59) degrees cooler in the harvested section post harvest. Here, 83% of the variation in the difference in benthic sea water temperature between control and harvested sections could be explained by a linear response to harvest. A linear model was best supported by the data (Figure 7 C) and estimated an increase in the magnitude

of difference between the harvest and control sections of 0.14°C per day (95% CI: -0.16 - -0.11; P-value = 2.76e-11) after a single harvest event. The standard deviation of the post harvest control section was half a degree higher than the pre-harvest control section, showcasing the high variability of the data (SD pre-harvest control section=0.46, SD post harvest control section=0.91).

In contrast, following the single harvest at the Falsehead kelp forest, the step model found no significant divergence in benthic seawater temperatures between control and harvested sections (p-value = 0.49, Figure 7 D). Instead, temperatures rose consistently at control and harvested sections of the forest. While a step function response in benthic temperature post harvest was best supported by the data (Figure 7 F, Appendix B.2), the model explained only 2.1% of the variation in the difference in temperature between control and harvested sections of the kelp forest.



Figure 6: Effects of a single pulse harvest event on benthic kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m²) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest.


Figure 7: Effects of a single pulse harvest event on benthic kelp forest sea water temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest.

Sequential Press Harvest

Light -

We found evidence for an effect of sequential press harvest on benthic light intensity in the kelp forests at Deer Island and Falsehead (Figure 8). In both kelp forests, light intensity declined on the seafloor following harvest, but the response trajectory differed among kelp forests. Specifically, after ten days of harvesting the kelp forest off Deer Island in late May to late June, removing 75,897 kg total of kelp, we detected a significant linear decline in light level differences between harvested and control sections post harvest (P-value=4.45e-4). Initially following harvest light quantity within the harvested section was greater, however the differences decline for ~3 weeks until hitting zero, then gradually increasing at a rate of 15.45 Lumens/m². Only 16% of the variation in these differences however is described by a linear response model to harvest (Figure 8 A, B, C, Appendix B.3, adj R²= 0.16). The variability of the light data was high in the harvest section, with a greater standard deviation in the harvest section post press harvest (SD during sequential harvest harvest section=242.83, SD post harvest harvest section=500.03).

After twelve days of harvest at Falsehead that removed 74,655 kg total of kelp, later in the growing season (from late June to mid July) we found that benthic light levels in the harvested section of the forest dropped significantly below those of the control section four days after harvest (p-value = 1.9e-06). In this case, a sigmoidal response in the difference in light levels between control and harvested sections of the kelp forest was best supported by the data (Figure 10 F, Adj R² =0.554) revealing an eventual average difference of 157.94 Lumen/m² between control and harvested sections (95% CI: -208.68 - -107.19) seven days post harvest. The control section experienced high variability of the data, with a standard deviation 8 times greater post sequential harvest (SD during sequential harvest control section=16.97, SD post harvest control section=132.62).

Temperature –

We detected significant yet variable effects of sequential harvest on benthic seawater temperatures across two kelp forests (Figure 9). Specifically, we found evidence for an effect of sequential kelp harvest on benthic seawater temperatures at

the kelp forest off Deer Island, which was harvested early in the growing season (Figure 9 A, B, C). There, the sigmoidal model detected a significant yet ephemeral increase in temperatures in the harvest section compared to the control (p-value=3.09e-4), however only 14% of the variation in the difference in temperature between control and harvested sections of this kelp forest is described by a sigmoidal response to harvest (adj R²= 0.14).

We also detected strong evidence of an effect of press harvest on benthic seawater temperature at Falsehead (p-value = 8.52e-16), which was harvested later in the growing season (Figure 9 D, E, F). At Falsehead, kelp forest temperatures in the control and harvested sections of the forest rose and diverged, with the harvested section experiencing a steadily increasing, linear cooling response (Figure 9 D, E, F Table B.4). The strongly supported linear response in temperature differences between control and harvested sections of the Falsehead kelp forest suggest an increase in temperature differences of 0.15°C per day post sequential press harvest (95% CI: -0.17 - -0.13) (Figure 9 E, F, Table B.4). Variability in temperature in the control section of the forest was higher than the harvest section post sequential harvest (SD during press harvest control section=0.53, SD post harvest control section=0.69).



Figure 8: Effects of sequential press harvest on benthic kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m²) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest.



Figure 9: Effects of sequential press harvest on benthic kelp forest seawater temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest.

Effect of Pulse and Press Harvest Disturbances on Water Flow

We did not detect an effect of a single, early season pulse harvest event on seawater flow at the kelp forests off Falsehead and Singletree (Figure 10 A, B, Appendix D.1, D.2). Immediately after harvest, both sections of the kelp forests experienced on average higher flow rates, but these differences were not significant.

We detected variable effects of sequential press harvest on seawater flow at the kelp forests off Deer Island and Falsehead (Figure 11 A, B, Appendix D.3, D.4, D.5). Specifically, immediately after eight days of harvest at Deer Island from late May to mid June, we detected a significant 7-fold increase in waterflow in the harvested section of the kelp forest (p-value = 9.24e-5). Moreover, repeated measures of waterflow at the Deer Island kelp forest through the harvest season indicate significant increases in water flow in the harvested sections of the forest (p-value = 4.37e-06) (Figure 12). In contrast, at Falsehead, after six days of sequential press harvest from late June to early July, we found no difference in waterflow between control and harvested sections of the kelp forest (Appendix D.3)



Figure 10: Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of the experimental kelp forest at A) Falsehead and B) Singletree after a single pulse harvest event in June.



Figure 11: Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of the experimental kelp forests after 6 to 8 days of repeated press harvest at A) Deer Island early in the growing season and B) Falsehead later in the growing season. * indicates significant differences.



Figure 12: Dissolution rate (g/hr), a metric of water flow, in the harvested (pink) and control (blue) sections of Deer Island throughout the entire harvest season. * indicates significant differences.

Effect of Harvest on Surface Frond Densities and Bryozoan Cover

We found that harvest influenced the density of surface fronds at only one of our three experimental kelp forests (Figure 13, Appendix E.1). Specifically, at Deer Island, where a sequential press kelp harvest was imposed for 10 days at the beginning of the growing season, surface frond density was on average 2 times lower in the harvested section of the forest (11 +/- 1.07 fronds/m²) relative to the unharvested control where average frond densities were 20 +/- 1.24 fronds/m². This impact was seasonally influenced, with July 10 surface frond density at Deer Island not differing between the harvest and control sections but early season and late season frond densities being impacted by harvest.

While we detected a significant effect of harvest on bryozoan cover, the effect varied across kelp forest and season (Figure 14 Appendix E.2). All sites had significant impact of harvest on bryozoan coverage in July, however Falsehead was the only site to have significant differences in late July and there was no impact of harvest on bryozoan coverage across all sites in June (Appendix E.2). A significant 3-fold increase in bryozoan coverage was found in the control section compared to the harvested area at Singletree on July 7, with the control section having on average 8.58% +/- 1.22 compared to the 2.96% +/- 0.43 for the harvest section. In contrast, Falsehead and Deer had higher bryozoan coverage in the harvest section compared to the control section in early July. Falsehead had on average 0.87% +/- 0.13 bryozoan coverage in the harvest and 0.18% +/- 0.11 in the control section on July 11. Deer had an average bryozoan coverage of 1.95% +/- 0.27 in the control and 3.24% +/- 0.46 in the harvest on July 10 (Figure 14). Bryozoan coverage was lowest at the beginning of June and peaked at the beginning of July, with twice as much bryozoan in July as other times in the season. Overall, Singletree had 1.7 times more coverage of bryozoan compared to Deer, and 4 times more bryozoan than Falsehead (Figure 14).



Figure 13: Surface frond density (#/m²) at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg). * indicates significant differences.



Figure 14: Bryozoan coverage (%/m²) at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, and C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. Black dots denote when and how much harvest occurred (Kg). * indicates significant differences.

Effect of Harvest on Subsurface Fronds and Reproduction

We did not detect an effect of harvest on the number of subsurface kelp fronds at the kelp forests off Falsehead, Singletree and Deer Island (Figure 15, Appendix F). The number of new or alive fronds did not differ significantly between harvested and control sections. The dead fronds did not differ between section at Singletree or Deer Island, however at Falsehead the number of dead fronds in the harvested section compared to the control section was significant later in the season (average 9 dead fronds/kelp +/- 2.28 in the harvest section, 1.62 +/- 0.73 dead fronds/kelp in the control section) (Figure 15, Appendix F.4).

We detected no effect of harvest on the potential reproductive output of kelp plants at Falsehead, Singletree and Deer Island across the entire season looking at number of reproductive sporophylls (Figure 16, Appendix G.1, G.2). The number of sori patches on individual kelp plants were not significantly different between the harvest section or the control section at any of the kelp forests. There was also no significant effect of harvest on the number of sporophylls between the three kelp forests (Appendix G). Singletree had the highest number of sori patches, 3 times higher than Falsehead (Figure 16). The peak of reproduction was observed at the beginning of July, with the control section having 1.5 times more sporophylls than the harvest section during that period. The average percentage of reproductive sporophylls for the control and harvest sections was 6% and 5% respectively.



Figure 15: Number of new fronds, alive fronds and dead fronds at Deer Island, Falshead, and Singletree in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest. * indicates significant differences.



Figure 16: Number of sori patches at A) Deer Island, B) Falsehead, C) Singletree and number of sporophylls at D) Deer Island, E) Falsehead, F) Singletree from tagged kelps in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests measured after harvest.

Effect of Harvest on Aerial Surface Coverage of Kelp

Patterns of kelp canopy coverage were inconsistent between the harvest and control sections of Falsehead, Singletree and Deer Island (Figure 17). Kelp coverage in the harvested sections tended to increase over the harvest season. Surface kelp coverage was 3.4x higher at Falsehead compared to Singletree and Deer Island across sections through time due to the larger size of the forest (Figure 17). Seasonal timing of

peak kelp coverage was not the same between kelp forests, with Falsehead having the highest canopy coverage in August, Singletree in June, and Deer in May (Figure 17).



Figure 17: Total Macrocystis area at A) Falsehead, B) Singletree, C) Deer Island in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the kelp forests.

Discussion

The expansion of kelp harvest has been identified as a pathway to support emerging blue economies among temperate coastlines worldwide. Here, we found that kelp forests in Kwakiutl territory of the Pacific Northwest coast of North America appear to be resilient to current kelp harvest levels and practices. Specifically, the hand harvest of surface canopy fronds removing <10% of available canopy biomass had surprisingly small effects on kelp forest surface density, subsurface frond recovery, canopy kelp area, and potential reproductive output of kelp plants. Sequential kelp harvest reduced benthic light levels at one site, possibly due to accumulation of cut fronds on the benthos, and marginally increased light at another site. Press harvest also altered sea water temperatures in kelp forests, ephemerally warming benthic sea water in one case and cooling it in another case.

Specifically, there were relatively small changes in kelp forest density detected post-harvest. Surface kelp frond density was empirically reduced by harvest at one site, but harvest was not found to influence changes in kelp density at the other two sites, frond recovery below the surface or trends in overall surface kelp coverage. The contextual nature of kelp harvest effects was highlighted by the surprising reduction in light levels at one site and variable impacts on temperature and water flow following repeat and single harvests. Overall, our results underscore the reciprocal and dynamic nature of ecological interactions within harvested kelp forests and the importance of empirical assessments when determining kelp forest changes after disturbances. This includes the relationships between kelp harvesters, kelp forests and a diversity of social-ecological conditions and constraints. Our findings suggest that kelp management will need to be assessed at the forest scale and that harvest effort may need to be fine tuned to local kelp forest conditions.

Kelp Forest Characteristics are Variably Affected by Harvest

One of the many challenges for marine managers is to determine if current harvest quantities and techniques support the recovery and sustained use of a kelp forest (Krumhansl et al., 2016; Kobluk et al., 2021). In our study, we found that kelp harvest reduced the number of surface fronds at Deer Island but not at Falsehead or

Singletree. Press harvests at Deer occurred in early June, whereas press harvests at Falsehead were later in the season and Singletree only had pulse harvests. Our results suggest that seasonal timing of press harvests may influence frond density both immediately after harvest and later in the season. The lack of frond reductions across sites and season post-harvest may also be influenced by the overall density. The average density across all kelp forests was 15 fronds/m² in the harvest section, with Deer Island having the lowest harvest sections density on June 15 at 11 fronds/m². The lowest density section of the lowest density kelp forest during the time of year with the lowest densities we assessed still had very dense kelp forests. 11 fronds/m² is higher than densities of unharvested giant kelp forests from different temperate regions globally, which range from 6 fronds/m² in southern California (Reed et al., 2009), 15 fronds/m² in the Falkland Islands (Tussenbroek, 1993), 2.45 fronds/m² in Alaska (van Tamelen & Woodby, 2001) and 4.45 fronds/m² in British Columbia (Sutherland et al., 2008). This result suggests that kelp forests in Kwakiutl territory are significantly denser than in other parts of the province and the world, even after repetitive commercial harvests. In addition, there were not consistent trends from aerial imagery of kelp canopy area reductions after harvest, suggesting that harvest does not always reduce overall canopy size or coverage. Aerial imagery of kelp forests in California, where harvest yields are 300 to 550 metric tons wet weight per harvest and forests are harvested twice a year have also been found to show minimal effects on canopy area (Kimura & Foster, 1984; Barilotti & Zertuche-Gonzalez, 1990). Ultimately these results suggest that harvest at the intensity and temporal rate we studied maintains high density of kelp fronds.

Following the removal of kelp fronds, compensatory growth allows kelp to recover and tolerate moderate levels of loss (Cerda et al., 2009). Harvest methodologies which focus on selective frond removal instead of whole plant harvest have been suggested by managers to maintain sustainability of harvest, due to increased replacement of fronds (Levitt et al., 2002; Krumhansl et al., 2017). Our study did not find that harvesting of giant kelp increased the number of new or alive fronds. These results are echoed by other work which also did not find harvest to increase the production or growth of new fronds (Geange et al., 2014). However, our results also did not find a significant decrease in the number of alive fronds following harvest compared to our control section. This result suggests that either the removal of harvestable sized canopy

fronds is mimicking natural loss and frond replacement of non-harvested plants or that compensatory growth is replacing harvested fronds. Previous research has shown that small scale kelp harvest mimics natural frond loss, has minimal impacts on kelp biomass and in some cases can stimulate increased biomass production (Krumhansl et al., 2017; Kobluk et al., 2021). Based on these results, the harvest effort, and practices we studied had relatively small impacts on kelp density and through hand harvests of upper portions of fronds kelp forests can be maintained through time.

Warmer and denser kelp forests are more susceptible to bryozoan settlement and growth (Saunders & Metaxas, 2008), leading to the hypothesis that intentional kelp thinning could be used as a proactive tool to reduce the amount of bryozoan cover in kelp forests (Denley et al., 2022). We did detect an effect of kelp harvest on bryozoan coverage at all three kelp forests, however bryozoan cover varied inconsistently between harvest and control sections among kelp forests throughout the harvest season. Warmer periods of the harvest season had higher impacts of harvest on bryozoan, although the directionality of these impacts varied. Falsehead and Deer Island had higher bryozoan coverage in harvested sections during the warmer period while Singletree had lower coverage in the harvested section during this same period. Additionally, part of this variability may be due to selective harvest of kelp by harvesters, who target healthy fronds due to the lower market value of heavily colonized fronds (Walls et al., 2017). Calcification of bryozoan on kelp changes pH dynamics of harvested fronds, reducing the ability for resale of kelp as fertilizer, the main economic use for Kwakiutl commercially harvested kelp. These social-ecological influences may contribute to observations of higher bryozoan cover in selectively harvested kelp forests, where harvesters will leave heavily fouled kelp fronds.

While our study found differences in trends of bryozoan cover following harvest, the overall cover of bryozoan we found were relatively small. Previous research on the Central Coast in British Columbia found peak seasonal bryozoan coverage averaged 25%-50%, with maximum coverage of 75%, however methodology of quantification varied from ours slightly (Denley et al., 2022). The statistically significant differences between the harvest and control sections we found were differences of less than 2%, which we predict would not be ecologically relevant differences. The only site that had higher coverage of bryozoans, Singletree, followed hypothesized trends of lower bryozoan coverage in the harvested section. Future analyses on the impacts of

commercial kelp harvest on bryozoan cover should focus on regions with higher quantities of bryozoan coverage to further illuminate the role harvest has on bryozoan populations and coverage.

Reproductive strategies of giant kelp in the northern hemisphere consist of yearround production of a high number of sporophylls, with the majority of those sporophylls producing sporogenous sori (Buschmann et al., 2006). The removal of kelp biomass has been found to have negative consequences on the production of reproductive blades, with certain cases leading to complete sterility (Graham, 2022). In California one study of Macrocystis pyrifera found a removal of 75% of kelp fronds led to a ~75% decrease in reproductive blades (Reed, 1987), and in New Zealand, harvest was found to cause an 86% reduction in reproduction (Geange et al., 2014). In contrast, our study did not find an effect of harvest on the number of reproductive blades or the number of sori patches. These results may be due to the small density changes caused by harvest, which removed <10% of the total surface canopy over the season and was found to minimally affect frond density across kelp forests through the harvest season. Additionally, our study assessed reproduction over a relatively short period of time, 3 months. Research on harvest impacts over a longer time frame and through multiple seasons is needed to truly assess the long-term impacts of harvest on the reproductive output of perennial giant kelp plants.

Changes in Biophysical Properties of Kelp Forests Not Consistently Correlated with Kelp Forest Density Changes

While we detected changes in the biophysical properties of light quantity, seawater temperature and water flow between harvested and control sections at our three experimental kelp forest, these properties were not consistently linked to changes in kelp forest densities following harvest. At Deer Island, water flow was greater in the harvested compared to control sections in early June and late July, corresponding to significant reductions in frond density at harvested sections during those times (Figure 12, 13). Water flow at Deer Island did not differ between sections in mid June, consistent with a lack of difference in frond density during that same time period (Figure 12, 13). However, at Deer Island benthic sea water temperatures did ephemerally increase in the harvest section following harvest compared to the control section, despite increased flow rates. Additionally, temperature and light differences following harvest were observed at

Falsehead and Singletree following pulse and press harvests, despite no detectable difference in kelp density between experimental sections during this time. This suggests that the changes in biophysical characteristics of the kelp forests at the spatial and temporal rate we studied were not closely related to significant reductions in frond density due to harvest. Instead, biophysical characteristics appear to be highly site specific, possibly reflecting the magnitude and seasonal timing of the harvest disturbance experienced at each kelp forest.

While temporal and spatial context is important, our findings suggest that commercial hand harvest of <10% of total giant kelp surface canopy has no impact on light after a single pulse harvest event but reduced light after repeated harvest pressure at one site and marginally increased it at another (Figure 6, 8, Appendix B & C). Contrary to our predictions, benthic light levels at Falsehead were reduced at harvested sections relative to the control sections following harvests, likely due to shading from deteriorating cut fronds. Specifically, at Falsehead following press harvest in mid July light levels in the harvest section decreased, this correlated with significantly higher quantities of dead fronds in the harvested section of Falsehead in late July (Figure 8. 15). The harvest methodologies used in this study did not remove the entire kelp, instead, the top \sim 5 m of canopy fronds was hand cut, leaving large proportions of subtidal fronds intact after harvest. These fronds, now lacking a scimitar and thus the ability to grow, gathered below the canopy to decay, creating large masses that reduced light levels. This short-term increase in detrital production following pulse harvests may have implications for ecological communities present in the kelp understory, including populations of detritivores. Further work is needed to understand the impacts kelp harvest is having on secondary production and on associated abiotic and biotic changes.

The inconsistent changes in light levels following harvest demonstrates that implications of harvests are context-dependent, based on site specific reactions to harvest and harvest frequency, which may influence ecological dynamics within harvested forests. Light is closely related to canopy density and in high density kelp forests irradiance at 1m depth is often low enough to limit photosynthesis even during sunny conditions (Gerald, 1984). Previous work has found that kelp surface canopies can reduce bottom light by 30%, which has the potential to decrease kelp gametophyte reproduction and vegetative growth through changes to light intensity and quality (Bularz et al., 2022; Ebbing et al., 2020). The arrival and survival of kelp predators, such as sea

urchins, and the presence of competitive understory algae is also influenced by light changes (Reed & Foster, 1984). Studies of 50% kelp canopy removal found major changes in light attenuation, which in turn reduced shade adapted understory algae and fauna who rely on the canopy for shelter (Wernberg et al., 2020; Norderhaug et al., 2020). In contrast, our work suggests that kelp harvest at our documented intensity and extent does not increase light, potentially maintaining these benthic communities due to stability of benthic light availability. However, our work did not normalize benthic light quantity to the incoming photosynthetically usable radiation, limiting our ability to compare impacts of harvest on light quantity or quality between sites. Overall, the impact of harvest on light is dynamic, variable, and further research is needed to understand harvest impacts on benthic communities.

Our work highlights that kelp harvest can alter sea water temperatures, particularly in forests experiencing instances of warmer seasonal water temperatures (Figure 7, 9, Appendix B & C). While our results were not consistent across all kelp forests, we found temperatures diverged between control and harvested sections of Singletree after a single pulse harvest with the harvested section having consistently lower temperatures. Similarly, the harvested sections of the Deer and Falsehead kelp forests were relatively cooler after a period of sequential harvest. Singletree was the shallowest of our experimental kelp forests, with the forest residing on a shallow bench with an average depth of ~3m below chart datum. The control section of Singletree experienced significantly higher temperatures earlier in the season than any other forest and any other section, likely due to the shallow nature of the kelp forest (Figure 4, 7, 9). In contrast, the temperatures of the harvested side of Singletree during the same period were significantly lower. Additionally, during the hottest period of our experiment Falsehead exhibited lower temperatures in the harvest section compared to the control section. Deer Island after sequential harvest, initially experienced warmer temperatures in the harvested section, however once ambient air temperatures rose at the beginning of July in the harvest section, sea water temperatures dropped. These results suggest that harvest has a possible buffering effect on temperatures during times of high heat. While these reductions in temperatures were not correlated with subsurface water flow except at Deer Island, greater analyses of water flow across seasons and depths are needed. Ultimately, if kelp harvest can reduce sea water temperatures during periods of

high ambient temperature, then small-scale harvest could positively alter the persistence and integrity of cold-water kelp forest ecosystems.

Through this study we have shown that kelp forests in Kwakiutl territory are resilient to current kelp harvest levels and practices, conclusions that can only be drawn from working directly with harvesters following established harvest methodologies. We acknowledge that many challenges arise when implementing sea-scape level experiments with harvesters that are constrained by weather conditions, sea state, kelp forest conditions, travel time, time of year, and approved provincial harvest quotas. This work focused on drawing inferences from typical Kwakiutl kelp harvest practices without altering when or which kelp forest to harvest, maintaining harvester decision making processes. While we established harvested and control sections of three experimental kelp forests, we did not control the timing or magnitude of the harvest itself. Our analysis focused on differing spatial temporal pulse and press instances of harvest, limiting the inferences we can make on the effects of harvest on light, temperature, and water flow changes. Overall, more work across a wide range of kelp forest distributions and ecological environments will illuminate these uncertainties. However, we strove to include communities and practitioners in this research thereby increasing the legitimacy and relevance of this research to collaborating communities and practitioners. Overall, we found that harvest impacts are minimal, variable over time and context dependent.

The Future of Kelp Harvest in Canada

Worldwide, seaweed cultivation generated USD \$14.7 billion in 2019, with Canada accounting for only 0.04% of world production (Cai et al., 2021). To meet climate and economic goals, Canada plans to grow their blue economy through the commercial development and support of emerging kelp fisheries (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2022). Management policies for kelp harvest that can provide sustainable yields, minimize bryozoan fouling, maintain ecological integrity and complexity, and promote kelp forest growth are required to maintain the sustainability of harvest practices. With increasing threats to kelp forests caused by climate change and land use changes it is important to understand the consequences of kelp harvest and minimize them whenever possible. In British Columbia, current provincial kelp harvest regulations dictate that kelp must be hand harvested and that stipes must be cut above the holdfast (BC Fish and seafood licensing regulation, 2016). Further provincial regulations dictate a maximum of 20% of any one kelp forest can be harvested and a maximum of 20% of the total kelp biomass can be harvested within a given harvest area. This quota was chosen conservatively based on data available to resource managers at the time which suggested that kelp could recover from harvest levels of 30 – 70% (Krumhansl et al., 2017). Our research confirms the potential of these policies to support kelp recovery post harvest, however our results were highly variable between kelp forests. Trends across kelp forests following singular or repetitive harvest with individual kelp forest characteristics altering the magnitude of harvest impacts. Additionally, influences of harvest on abiotic conditions known to influence kelp growth and persistence were inconsistent and seasonal. Ultimately, kelp forest management must be on the forest-scale, with managers who are aware of local abiotic and biotic conditions within kelp forests making decisions on when, where, and how much to harvest.

The Kwakiutl Nation has expressed interest in furthering the development of kelp operations within their territory. While the financial gain of increased kelp harvest and aquaculture could have positive community-level effects, the primary focus of expanding kelp mariculture within the community is to increase connection with and access to kelp for all people of the Nation (Gutzmann, 2023). Kwakiutl governance principles for kelp which include responsibility, namwayut (we are all one), reciprocity, and maya'xala (respect) will maintain the sustainability of kelp practices, while providing the Nation with reconnection to their lands and waters, asserting land sovereignty, and facilitating Kwakiutl knowledge exchange (Gutzmann, 2023). While in this research we measured ecological outcomes of kelp harvest, our results cannot be isolated from the broader cultural context of Kwakiutl values and principles, which have sustained harvest practices through time (Artelle et al., 2018).

Overall, our results underscore the reciprocal and dynamic nature of ecological interactions within kelp forests and the importance of empirical assessments when determining kelp forest changes after disturbances. This collaborative kelp harvest experiment has implications for future kelp management within Kwakiutl territory and more widely for within the province of British Columbia. Firstly, future kelp harvest rates should be adapted to local conditions. Our work shows that each kelp forest reacts and

recovers slightly differently after harvest and these differences need to be considered when setting harvest rates. Second, future harvest rates should reflect kelp forest productivity and ecosystem change amid a warming ocean. Kelps are incredibly unique due to their thermal tolerance across their range; however, previous work highlights that kelp recovery rates post harvest are extremely temperature sensitive, with as little as 0.7 degrees of warming reducing recovery rates (Krumhansl et al., 2017). Future research should focus on modelling kelp forest productivity, amid a warming ocean, to be able to better predict harvest impacts. Finally, future harvest rates should be cautious of ecological thresholds. Kelp harvesters, regulators, and decision makers should be cognizant of tipping points, especially as market demands continue to grow and harvests become more efficient.

In Canada, we are situated to enhance the resilience of kelp forests and coastal communities to the impacts of harvest through kelp management practices that utilize diverse knowledges and democratizing conservation practices (Salomon et al., 2018). We have shown that harvested kelp forests are social-ecological systems where interconnected relationships between harvesters and kelp forests dictate the outcomes of harvests. The transition from colonial and centralized management to place-based governance systems with local culture, knowledge and management at the core would focus kelp harvest policy to the forest-scale, facilitating more equitable and resilient kelp forest-human relationships into the future.

References

- Artelle, K. A., Stephenson, J., Bragg, C., Housty, J. A., Housty, W. G., Kawharu, M., Turner, N. J. (2018). Values-led management: the guidance of place-based values in environmental relationships of the past, present and future. Ecology and Society, 23(3) 35.
- Barilotti, D. C., Zertuche-Gonzalez, J. A. (1990). Ecological effects of seaweed harvesting in the Gulf of California and Pacific Ocean off Baja California and California. Hydrobiologia, 204 35-40.
- BC Fish and Seafood licensing regulation. (2016). Fish and Seafood Act. Government of British Columbia Laws.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models Usinglme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1).
- Bender, E. A., Case, T. J., Gilpin, M. E. (1984). Perturbation experiments in community ecology: theory and practice. Ecology, 65(1) 1-13.
- Bennett, N. J., Blythe, J., White, C. S., Campero, C. (2021). Blue growth and blue justice: Ten risks and solutions for the ocean economy. Marine Policy, 125 104387.
- Bularz, B., Fernandez, M., Subida, M. D., Wieters, E. A., Perez-Matus, A. (2022). Effects of harvesting on subtidal kelp forests (Lessonia trabeculate) in central Chile. Ecosphere, 13(3) e3958.
- Buschmann, A. H., Moreno, C., Vasquez, J. A., Hernandez-Gonzalez, M. C. (2006). Reproduction strategies of Macrocystis pyrifera (Phaeophyta) in Southern Chile: The importance of population dynamics. Journal of Applied Phycology 18, 575-582.
- Buschmann, A. H., Prescott, S., Potin, P., Faugeron, S., Vásquez, J. A., Camus, C., Infante, J., Hernández-González, M. C., Gutíerrez, A., & Varela, D. A. (2014).
 The Status of Kelp Exploitation and Marine Agronomy, with Emphasis on Macrocystis pyrifera, in Chile. Advances in Botanical Research, 71 161–188.
- Buschman, A. H. Camus, C., Infante, J., Neori, A., Israel, A., Hernandez-Gonzalez, M. C., Pereda, S. V., Gomez-Pinchetti, J. L., Goldberg, A., Tadmor-Shalev, N., Critchley A. T. (2017). Seaweed production: overview of the global state of exploitation, farming, and emerging research activity. European Journal of Phycology, 4 391-406.

- Cai, J., Lovatelli, A., Aguilar-Manjarrez, J., Cornish, L., Dabbadie, L., Desrochers, A., Diffey, S., Garrido Gamarro, E., Geehan, J., Hurtado, A., Lucente, D., Mair, G., Miao, W., Potin, P., Przybyla, C., Reantaso, M., Roubach, R., Tauati, M., Yuan, X. (2021). Seaweeds and microalgae: an overview for unlocking their potential in global aquaculture development. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular No. 1229. Rome, FAO.
- Cerda, O., Karsten, U., Rothausler, E., Tala, F., Thiel, M. (2009). Compensatory growth of the kelp Macrocystis integrifolia (Phaeophyceae, Laminariales) against grazing of Peramphithoe femorata (Amphipoda, Ampithoidae) in northern-central Chile. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 377 61-67.
- Choudhary, P., Subhash P. G., Khade, M., Savant, S., Musale, A., Kumar, R. K. G., Chelliah, M. S., Dasgupta, S. (2021). Empowering blue economy: From underrated ecosystem to sustainable industry. Journal of Environmental Management, 291 112697.

Denouden, T., Reshitnyk, L. (2023). Kelp-o-matic v0.6.1. Hakai Institute.

- Denley, D., Frid, A., Salomon, A. (2022). Chapter 1: Warm sea water and high kelp density magnify bryozoan abundance. CCIRA (Bryozoan Kelp Surveys Summary Report).
- Dillehay, T. D., Ramirez, C., Pino, M., Collins, M. B., Rossen, J., Pino-Navarro, J. D. (2008). Monte Verde: seaweed, food, medicine, and the peopling of South America. Science, 320(5877) 784-786.
- Dosser, H., Jackson, J., Hunt, B., Waterman, S., Hannah, C. G. (2019). Queen Charlotte Strait to the Strait of Georgia: Distinct regional differences in physical properties and nutrients. Conference: State of the Pacific Ocean Meeting. Sidney, BC.
- Ebbing, A., Pierik, R., Bouma, T., Kromkamp, J. C., Timmermans, K. (2020). How light and biomass density influence the reproduction of delayed saccharine latissimi gametophytes (Phaeophyceae). J. Phycol, 56 709-718.
- Elzhov, T. V., Mullen, K. M., Spiess, A. N., Bolker, B. (2023). minpack.lm: R Interface to the Levenberg-Marquardt Nonlinear Least-Squares Algorithm Found in MINPACK, Plus Support for Bounds.
- Everson, C. (2021). A set of core Kwakwaka'wakw values and principles. Nanwakolas Council Society.
- Fieler, R., Greenacre, M., Matsson, S., Neves, L., Forbord, S., Hancke, K. (2021). Erosion dynamics of cultivated kelp, Saccharina latissimi, and implications for environmental management and carbon sequestration. Front. Mar. Sci., 8.
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada. (2022). Engaging on Canada's Blue Economy Strategy: What We Heard. 58.

- Geange, S. W. (2014). Growth and reproductive consequences of photosynthesis tissue loss in the surface canopies of Macrocystis pyrifera (L.) C. Agardh. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 453 70-75.
- Gerald, V. A. (1984). The light environment in a giant kelp forest: influence of Macrocystis pyrifera on spatial and temporal variability. Marine Biology, 84 189-195.
- Graham, M. (2002). Prolonged reproductive consequences of short-term biomass loss in seaweeds. Marine Biology, 140 901-911.
- Gutzmann, S. (2023). Social-ecological trade-offs in Indigenous kelp fisheries and mariculture can reveal climate-resilient and socially just ocean governance. MRM Thesis, Simon Fraser University.

Grothendieck, G. (2013) Non-Linear Regression with Brute Force.

- Hepburn, C. D. Frew, R. D., Hurd, C. L. (2012). Uptake and transport of nitrogen derived from sessile epifauna in the giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera. Aquatic Biology, 14 121-128.
- Hart, A. M., Lasi, F. E., Glenn, E. P. (2002). SLODS: slow dissolving standards for water flow measurements. Aquacultural Engineering, 25 239-252.
- Hothorn, T., Bretz, F., Westfall, P., Heiberger, R. M., Schuetzenmeister, A., Scheibe, S. (2023). multcomp: Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models.
- Hunt, S. (2023). LOOKING FOR LUCY HOMISKANIS, CONFRONTING EMILY CARR: Restorying nature, gender, and belonging on the northwest coast. BC Studies, 147(217) 7-33.
- Kimura, R. S., Foster, M. S. (1984). The effects of harvesting *Macrocystis pyrifera* on the algal assemblage in a giant kelp forest. Hydrobiologia, 116 425-428.
- Kobluk, H. M., Gladstone, K., Reid, M., Brown, K., Krumhansl, K. A., Salomon, A. K.
 (2021). Indigenous knowledge of key ecological processes confers resilience to a small-scale kelp fishery. People and Nature, 3(3) 723-739.
- Krumhansl, K. A., Lee, J. M., Scheibling, R. E. (2011). Grazing damage and encrustation by an in invasive bryozoan reduce the ability of kelps to withstand breakage by waves. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 407(1) 12-18.
- Krumhansl, K. A., Bergman, J. N., Salomon, A. K. (2017). Assessing the ecosystemlevel consequences of a small-scale artisanal kelp fishery within the context of climate-change. Ecological Applications, 27(3) 799-813.

- Krumhansl, K. A., Okamoto, D. K., Rassweiler, A., Novak, M., Bolton, J. J., Cavanaugh, K. C., Connell, S. D., Johnson, C. R., Konar, B., Ling, S. D., Micheli, F., Norderhaug, K. M., Pérez-Matus, A., Sousa-Pinto, I., Reed, D. C., Salomon, A. K., Shears, N. T., Wernberg, T., Anderson, R. J., ... Byrnes, J. E. K. (2016). Global patterns of kelp forest change over the past half-century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(48) 13785–13790.
- Kuhnlein, H., Turner, N. (1991). Traditional Plant Foods of Canadian Indigenous Peoples. 1st edition. London, Rutledge.
- Kuznetsova A., Brockhoff P.B. and Christensen R.H.B. (2017). ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13).

Kwakiutl First Nation. (2018). Kwakiutl First Nation Land Use Plan.

- Kwaxsistalla Wathl'thla (Dick, A.), Mayanilth (Sewid-Smith, D.), Oqwilowgwa (Recalma-Clutesi, K.), Moxmowisa (Deur, D.), Galitsimga (Turner, N.J.). (2022). "From the beginning of time": The colonial reconfiguration of native habitats and Indigenous resource practices on the British Columbia Coast. FACETS, 7 543-570.
- Lenth, R. V., Bolker, B., Buerkner, P., Giné-Vázquez, I., Herve, M., Jung, M., Love, J., Miguez, F., Riebl, H., Singmann, H. (2023). emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means.
- Levitt, G. J., Anderson, R. J., Boothroyd, C. J. T., Kemp, F. A. (2002). The effects of kelp harvesting on its regrowth and the understorey benthic community at Danger Point, South Africa, and a new method of harvesting kelp fronds. South African Journal of Marine Science, 24(1) 71-85.
- Mann, K. H. (1973). Seaweeds: Their Productivity and Strategy for Growth. Science 182(4116) 975-981.
- Marine Planning Partnership Initiative. (2015). North Vancouver Island Marine Plan.
- Mazerolle, M. J. (2023). AICcmodavg: Model Selection and Multimodel Inference Based on (Q)AIC).
- McClanahan, T. R., Huntington, B. E., Cokos, B. (2011). Coral responses to macroalgal reduction and fisheries closure on Caribbean patch reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 437 89-102.
- Mustonen, T., B. Van Dam, and H. Eklund. 2021. A century of knowledge: Kwakwaka'wakw Elders and environmental change. Facets, 6 2110–2137.
- Norderhaug, K., Filbee-Dexter, K., Freitas, C., Birkely, S., Christensen, L., Mellerud, I., Thormar, J., Van Son, T., Moy, F., Vázquez Alonso, M., Steen, H. (2020). Ecosystem-level effects of large-scale disturbance in kelp forests. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 656 163–180.

- O'Clair, R., Lindstrom, S. (2021) Macrocystis pyrifera. In: Klinkenberg, Brian. (Editor) 2021. E-Flora BC: Electronic Atlas of the Flora of British Columbia [eflora.bc.ca]. Lab for Advanced Spatial Analysis, Department of Geography, University of British Columbia, Vancouver.
- Pasco, J., Compton, B. D. (1998). The living world: plants and animals of the Kwakwaka'wakw. Edited by Hunt, L. U'mista Cultural Society.
- Pedersen, M. F., Filbee-Dexter, K., Norderhaug, K. M., Fredriksen, S., Frisk, N. L., Fagerli, C. W., Wernberg, T. (2020). Detrital carbon production and export in high latitude kelp forests. Oecologia, 192, 227-239.
- R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Reed, D. C., Neushul, M., Ebeling, A. W. (1991). Role of settlement density on gametophyte growth and reproduction in the kelps *Pterygophora californica* and Macrocystis pyrifera (Phaeophyceae). Journal of Phycology, 27(3) 361-366.
- Reed, D. C., Foster, M. S. (1984). The effects of canopy shading on algal recruitment and growth in a giant kelp forest. Ecology, 63(3) 937-948.
- Reed, D. C. (1987). Factors affecting the production of sporophylls in the giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera (L.) C.Ag. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 113(1), 61-69.
- Reed, D., Rassweiler, A., Arkema, K. (2009). Density derived estimates of standing crop and net primary production in the giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera. Marine Biology, 156(10) 2077–2083.
- Salomon, A. K., Lertzman, K., Brown, K., Wilson, K. B., Secord, D., Mckechnie, I. (2018). Democratizing conservation science and practice. Ecology and Society 23(1) 44.
- Saunders, M., Metaxas, A. (2008). High recruitment of the introduced bryozoan Membranipora membranacea is associated with kelp bed defoliation in Nova Scotia, Canada. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 359 139-151.
- Sutherland, I. R., Karpouzi, V., Mamoser, M., Carswell, B. (2008). Kelp Inventory, 2007. BC Ministry of Environment Oceans and Marine Fisheries branch.
- Steen, H., Moy, F. E., Bodvin, T., Husa, V. (2016). Regrowth after kelp harvesting in Nord- Trøndelag, Norway. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73(10) 2708-2720.
- Van Tamelen, P. G., Woodby, D. (2001). Macrocystis biomass, quality, and harvesting effects in relation to the herring spawn-on-kelp fishery in Alaska. Alaska Fishery Research Bulletin, 8(2).

- The First Nations Information Governance Centre. (2023). The First Nations Principles of OCAP®.
- Thompson, S. A., Knoll, H., Blanchette, C. A., Nielsen, K. J. (2010). Population consequences of biomass loss due to commercial collection of the wile seaweed Postelsia palmaeformis Marine Ecology Progress Series, 413 17-31.
- Tiwari, B. K., Troy, D. J. (2015). Chapter 1- Seaweed sustainability food and non-food applications. Academic Press, 1-6.
- Thiault, L., Kernaleguen, L., Osenberg, C. W., Claudet J. (2017). Progressive-Change BACIPS: a flexible approach for environmental impact assessment. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 8 288-296.
- Thompson, M. (2021). MaPP Kelp Monitoring Protocol. Marine Plan Partnership.
- Turner, N. C., Bell A. M. B. (1973). The Ethnobotany of the Southern Kwakiutl Indians of British Columbia. Economic Botany, 27 257–310.
- Van Tussenbroek, B. I. (1993). Plant and frond dynamics of the giant kelp, Macrocystis pyrifera, forming a fringing zone in the Falkland Islands. European Journal of Phycology, 28(3) 161–165.
- Vasquez, J. A. (1995). Ecological effects of brown seaweed harvesting. Botanica Marina, 38 251-257.
- Vásquez, J.A., Piaget, N., Vega, J.M.A. (2012). The Lessonia nigrescens fishery in northern Chile: "how you harvest is more important than how much you harvest". J Appl Phycol, 24 417–426.
- Walls, A. M., Edwards, M. D., Firth, L. B., Johnson, M. P. (2017). Successional changes of epibiont fouling communities of the cultivated kelp Alaria esculenta: predictability and influences. Aquaculture environment interactions, 9 57-71.
- Wernberg, T., Couraudon-Réale, M., Tuya, F., Thomsen, M. (2020). Disturbance intensity, disturbance extent and ocean climate modulate kelp forest understory communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 651 57–69.
- Wood, D., Capuzzo, E., Kirby, D., Mooney-McAuley, K., Kerrison, P. (2017). UK macroalgae aquaculture: What are the key environmental and licensing considerations? Marine Policy, 83 29-39.

Appendix A.

Magnitude of the Harvest

Site	Measurement Date (2022)	Mean Length (m)	Length Standard Error	Mean Weight (kg)	Weight Standard Error	Number of harvested fronds
Falashaad	May 00		End	0.50	0.00	10
Faisenead	May 20	-	-	2.58	0.89	10
	June 17	5.90	0.81	3.27	1.35	18
	July 8	4.08	1.81	-	-	151
	July 9	6.97	1.87	1.59	0.55	20
	July 28	3.75	1.89	-	-	169
	July 31	8.04	2.54	1.40	0.51	20
Singletree	May 26	-	-	1.99	0.53	15
	June 17	6.25	1.62	1.80	0.91	8
	July 7	4.04	0.71	1.98	0.54	21
	July 29	7.82	1.89	2.1	0.65	21
Deer	May 26	-	-	2.66	1.02	9
	June 13	3.59	1.51	1.86	0.74	26
	July 10	5.51	1.67	2.16	0.97	20
	July 30	1.91	1.68	1.37	0.60	20

Table A.1:Mean length and weight of harvested kelp fronds for each site
(Falsehead, Singletree & Deer) at each measurement period.

Table A.2:Mean harvest quantity across time (May 24- August 12) at each site
(Falsehead, Singletree and Deer).

Site	Mean Harvest Quantity (kg)	Mean Harvest Standard Error	Number of Harvest Days
Falsehead	7048.97	88.92	20
Singletree	6859.64	198.11	13
Deer	7394.25	91.32	11

Appendix B.

Benthic BACIPS Analysis

Benthic Pulse BACIPS Analysis

Table B.1:BACIPS outputs for benthic light levels (Lumen/m²) at Singletree and
Falsehead after a single pulse harvest event. Significant p-values
(>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Singletree	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	59.23 (Linear)	61.3 (Linear)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	24.26 (Step)	29.98 (Step)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	2.38 Lumens/m ²	5.62 Lumens/m ²
95% Confidence Interval	-1.37 – 6.11	-4.25 – 15.5
P-value	0.2	0.25
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	59.2	56.16
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	36.41	137.08
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	23.83	30.74
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	23.94	21.69

Table B.2:BACIPS outputs for benthic temperatures (°C) at Singletree and
Falsehead after a single pulse harvest event. Significant p-values
(>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Singletree	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	91.1 (Linear)	53.16 (Step)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	8.9 (Sigmoid)	43.65 (Linear)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	0.14 °C	0.1 °C
95% Confidence Interval	-0.160.11	-0.13 – 0.37
P-value	<mark>2.76e-11</mark>	0.49
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	0.46	0.53
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	0.91	0.59
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	0.5	0.48
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	0.5	0.57

Benthic Press BACIPS Analysis

Table B.3:BACIPS outputs for benthic light levels (Lumen/m²) at Deer and
Falsehead after sequential press harvest events. Significant p-
values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Deer	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	94.66 (Linear)	71.85 (Sigmoid)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	5.32 (Step)	15.95 (Linear)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	15.45 Lumens/m ²	157.94 Lumens/m ²
95% Confidence Interval	-23.187.72	-208.68107.19
P-value	<mark>4.45e-4</mark>	<mark>1.9e-06</mark>
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	73.85	16.97
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	33.06	132.62
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	242.83	21.2
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	500.03	76.21

Table B.4:BACIPS outputs for benthic temperatures (°C) at Deer and
Falsehead after sequential press harvest events. Significant p-
values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Deer	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	96.93 (Sigmoid)	84.61 (Linear)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	1.72 (Step)	15.39 (Sigmoid)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	0.34°C	0.15°C
95% Confidence Interval	-0.510.17	-0.170.13
P-value	<mark>3.09e-4</mark>	<mark>8.52e-16</mark>
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	0.33	0.53
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	0.31	0.81
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	0.43	0.53
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	0.39	0.69

Appendix C.

Subsurface BACIPS Analysis

Subsurface Pulse BACIPS Analysis

Table C.1:BACIPS outputs for subsurface light levels (Lumen/m²) at Singletree
and Falsehead after a single pulse harvest event. Significant p-
values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Singletree	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	71.05 (Linear)	56.14 (Asymptotic)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	23.35 (Step)	23.12 (Step)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	-47.83 Lumens/m ²	-22.34 Lumens/m ²
95% Confidence Interval	-84.5611.09	-188.83 – 144.14
P-value	<mark>0.0127</mark>	0.80
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	129.87	92.03
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	238.77	798.05
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	245.42	262.09
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	469.39	158.30

Table C.2:BACIPS outputs for subsurface temperatures (°C) at Singletree and
Falsehead after a single pulse harvest event. Significant p-values
(>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Singletree	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	80.74 (Sigmoid)	49.33 (Step)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	18.56 (Linear)	48.10 (Linear)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	-0.56 °C	-0.43 °C
95% Confidence Interval	-0.760.35	-0.650.21
P-value	<mark>1.84e-05</mark>	0.80
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	0.53	0.45
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	0.94	0.94
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	0.63	0.56
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	0.70	0.79



Figure C.1: Effects of a single pulse harvest event on subsurface kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m²) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and impacted (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest.


Figure C.2: Effects of a single pulse harvest event on subsurface kelp forest sea water temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Singletree and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and impacted (pink) sections of the forest, pre and post harvest.

Subsurface Press BACIPS Analysis

Table C.3:BACIPS outputs for subsurface light levels (Lumen/m²) at Deer and
Falsehead after sequential press harvest events. Significant p-values
(>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

	Deer	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	88.71 (Linear)	82.02 (Linear)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	7.96 (Step)	15.77 (Step)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	-39.01 Lumen/m ²	-59.97 Lumen/m ²
95% Confidence Interval	-74.183.85	-90.429.81
P-value	<mark>0.030</mark>	<mark>0.0004</mark>
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	157.47	154.83
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	1053.67	249.74
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	284.60	201.35
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	1064.13	137.19

Table C.4:BACIPS outputs for subsurface temperatures (°C) at Deer and Falsehead
after sequential press harvest events. Significant p-values (>0.05) are
highlighted in yellow.

	Deer	Falsehead
Winning Model AICc Weight	85.04 (Step)	59.77 (Linear)
Next Best Model AICc Weight	8.51 (Sigmoid)	30.38 (Step)
Best Model Estimated Effect Size	0.64 °C	0.024 °C
95% Confidence Interval	-0.093 – 2.21	-0.065 – 0.016
P-value	0.0067	0.24
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Control Section	0.58	0.83
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Control Section	0.60	0.88
Standard Deviation Pre-Harvest Harvest Section	0.70	0.78
Standard Deviation Post Harvest Harvest Section	0.47	0.96



Figure C.3: Effects of sequential press harvest on subsurface kelp forest light intensity (Lumen/m2) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest.



Figure C.4: Effects of sequential press harvest on subsurface kelp forest sea water temperature (°C) at A,B,C) Deer Island and D,E,F) Falsehead in control (blue) and harvested (pink) sections of the forest, during and post harvest.

Appendix D.

Water Flow

Pulse Harvest Water Flow

Table D.1:T-test for dissolution rate (g/hr) at Falsehead after a single pulse
harvest in June. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in
yellow which were then investigated using a Tukey HSD, significant
(>0.05) Tukey HSD adjusted p-values were reported.

	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value
Treatment	1	0.0025	0.0025	0.977	0.388	

Table D.2:T-test for dissolution rate (g/hr) at Singletree after a single pulse
harvest in June. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in
yellow which were then investigated using a Tukey HSD, significant
(>0.05) Tukey HSD adjusted p-values were reported.

	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value
Treatment	1	0.0051	0.0051	3.23	0.137	

Press Harvest Water Flow

Table D.3:T-test for dissolution rate (g/hr) at Falsehead in July after 6 days of
sequential press harvests. Significant p-values (>0.05) are
highlighted in yellow which were then investigated using a Tukey
HSD, significant (>0.05) Tukey HSD adjusted p-values were reported.

	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value
Treatment	1	0.00001	0.00001	0.007	0.936	

Table D.4:T-test for dissolution rate (g/hr) at Deer after 8 days of sequential
press harvest in June. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in
yellow which were then investigated using a Tukey HSD, significant
(>0.05) Tukey HSD adjusted p-values were reported.

	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value	Direction of Difference
Treatment	1	0.0399	0.0399	84.84	<mark>9.24e-</mark> 05	<mark>9.23e-05</mark>	Harvest > Control

Table D.5:Repeat measures ANOVA for dissolution rate (g/hr) at Deer through
the harvest season. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in
yellow which were then investigated using a Tukey HSD, significant
(>0.05) Tukey HSD adjusted p-values were reported. Significant
Tukey results for Treatment:Date at the same sample period were
reported.

	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value	Direction of Difference
Treatment	1	0.0373	0.0373	36.56	<mark>4.37e-</mark> 06	<mark>4.4e-06</mark>	Harvest > Control
Date	3	0.1343	0.0448	43.83	<mark>1.89e-</mark> 09	June 15- May 26 1.0e-08 July 7- May 26 <mark>0.00</mark> July 28- May 26 <mark>6.74e-07</mark> July 28- July 7 <mark>0.0011</mark>	June 15 < May 26 July 7 < May 26 July 28 < May 26 July 28 > July 7
Treatment:Date	3	0.028	0.0093	9.14	<mark>0.0004</mark>	Harvest June 15- Control <mark>6.35e-6</mark> Harvest July 28- Control <mark>0.028</mark>	Harvest > Control Harvest > Control

Appendix E.

Surface Surveys

Density of Surface Fronds

Table E1:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for surface frond density (#/m2) after harvest.
Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	June 14	0.9977	
	July 11	0.9356	
	July 31	0.9999	
Singletree	June 16	0.7315	
	July 7	0.9997	
	July 29	0.9973	
Deer	June 13	<mark>7.35e-5</mark>	Control > Harvest
	July 10	0.8336	
	July 30	<mark>9.1e-5</mark>	Control > Harvest

Bryozoan Coverage

Table E2:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for surface bryozoan coverage (%/m²) after
harvest. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p-value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	June 14	0.2236	
	July 11	<mark>0.0059</mark>	Harvest > Control
	July 31	<mark>2.0e-5</mark>	Harvest > Control
Singletree	June 16	0.9238	
	July 7	<mark>0.00</mark>	Harvest < Control
	July 29	0.9966	
Deer	June 13	0.9999	
	July 10	<mark>0.0198</mark>	Harvest > Control
	July 30	0.4056	

Appendix F.

Scuba Surveys

All Fronds from Tagged Kelps

Table F.1:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all underwater frond counts (#) after harvest.
Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.9999	
	July 31	0.9397	
Singletree	July 9	0.9924	
	July 29	0.9917	
Deer	July 10	0.6383	
	July 30	0.6262	

Alive Fronds from Tagged Kelps

Table F.2:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all alive underwater frond counts (#) after
harvest. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.9703	
	July 31	0.9786	
Singletree	July 9	0.9999	
	July 29	0.9999	
Deer	July 10	0.4822	
	July 30	0.1844	

New Fronds from Tagged Kelps

Table F.3:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all new underwater frond counts (#) after
harvest. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.7882	
	July 31	0.9264	
Singletree	July 9	0.2225	
	July 29	0.4269	
Deer	July 10	0.9999	
	July 30	0.6905	

Dead Fronds from Tagged Kelps

Table F.4:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all dead underwater frond counts (#) after
harvest. Significant p-values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.9998	
	July 31	<mark>0.0002</mark>	Harvest > Control
Singletree	July 9	0.9796	
	July 29	0.2909	
Deer	July 10	0.9989	
	July 30	0.1465	

Appendix G.

Reproductive Assessments

Sori from Tagged Kelps

Table G.1:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all sori counts (#) after harvest. Significant p-
values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.3795	
	July 31	0.7008	
Singletree	July 9	0.0747	
	July 29	0.9045	
Deer	July 10	0.2192	
	July 30	1.00	

Sporophylls from Tagged Kelps

Table G.2:Harvest impacts from repeat measures ANOVA were investigated
using a Tukey HSD for all sori counts (#) after harvest. Significant p-
values (>0.05) are highlighted in yellow.

Site	Date	Tukey HSD adjusted p- value	Direction of Difference
Falsehead	July 9	0.6828	
	July 31	0.9945	
Singletree	July 9	0.4565	
	July 29	0.7485	
Deer	July 10	0.1243	
	July 30	0.3613	